Hemorrhagic shock: an overview of animal models

Shabbir Moochhala, Jian Wu, Jia Lu

Combat Care Laboratory, Combat Casualty Care Programme, Defence Medical and Environmental Research Institute, DSO National Laboratories (Kent Ridge), 27 Medical Drive #09-01, Singapore 117510

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Models of hemorrhagic shock controlled and uncontrolled
 - 3.1. Fixed-pressure hemorrhagic shock model
 - 3.2. Fixed-volume hemorrhagic shock model
 - 3.3. Uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock model
- 4. Conscious animal hemorrhagic shock model
- 5. Combined hemorrhagic shock
 - 5.1. Combined soft tissue injury and hemorrhagic shock
 - 5.2. Combined traumatic brain injury (TBI) and hemorrhagic shock
 - 5.3. Combined sepsis and hemorrhagic shock (two-hit model)
- 6. Conclusion
- 7. References

1. ABSTRACT

Extensive efforts have been made to try to elucidate the pathophysiological mechanisms and the immunologic alterations associated with severe hemorrhage. A broad variety of experimental conditions have been established that enable investigators to study the effects of hypovolemic shock and to assess the potential benefits of a wide spectrum of treatment options. However, translating these experimental findings into clinically applicable therapy has been challenging, suggesting the need for a better understanding of the animal models being used. As certain advantages and disadvantages are associated with the different models of hemorrhage (such as controlled and uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock and combined trauma with hemorrhagic shock models, for this review, we have selected representative studies that reflect the current status of experimental shock research that looks at acute blood loss, and that may serve as a guide when considering which model or models to apply

2. INTRODUCTION

Hemorrhagic shock accounts for majority of deaths in both combat injuries and civilian trauma. Data from Vietnam War shows that around 50% of deaths are caused by torso and peripheral exsanguinations(1). Also, trauma and bleeding are the reasons for most of the deaths in young people, even more than all other reasons together.

Most of what we know about hemorrhagic shock is from studies on animal models. For decades, considerable efforts have been made to develop experimental hemorrhagic shock model to investigate the pathophysiological mechanisms of shock and to evaluate the efficacy of different therapeutic options. However, transiting the experimental results to clinical application is challenging, and there is still a need for better understanding of the animal models being used.

In this chapter we have reviewed currently used hemorrhagic shock models of different animal species and

for various purposes. The advantages and disadvantages of these models have also been discussed.

3. MODELS OF HEMORRHAGIC SHOCK – CONTROLLED AND UNCONTROLLED

Basically, there are two types of experimental animal model of hemorrhagic shock: controlled hemorrhage and uncontrolled hemorrhage. Controlled models are either of fixed-pressure or of fixed-volume.

3.1. Fixed-pressure hemorrhagic shock model

Many investigators today use a modification of the fixed-pressure model of hemorrhagic shock described by Wiggers(2). In this model, anesthetized animals are bled to a predetermined mean arterial pressure and are maintained at that pressure, with periodic bleeding, for a specified period of time based on the animal species as well as on the degree or outcome of hypotensive shock. Mean arterial pressures varying from 70 to 35 mm Hg and durations as short as 30 min(3,4,5,6,7,8,9,10) and as long as 5 h have been studied. Fixed-pressure hemorrhage enables the investigator to regulate the intensity of hypotensive shock administered based on physiological and end-organ injury outcome, an important consideration in designing therapeutic interventions. This model has been used to study the effects of hypotensive shock on inflammatory responses, and on gut(11,12,13), liver(14,15), lung(16,17), adrenal(10), cardiovascular function alterations(18,19,20), immunological system changes(21,22) as well as the effects of various resuscitation strategies(23,24) on organ function and outcome.

Several studies have examined the physiological complications of severe blood loss. Also, the significant advantage of fixed-pressure hemorrhagic shock model is its excellent reproducibility and standardization. However, this model does not reveal the real life situation of uncontrolled hemorrhage in field settings. Moreover, fixed-pressure model eliminates the physiological self-compensation mechanisms that occur as the patient bleeds.

3.2. Fixed-volume hemorrhagic shock model

Besides fixed-pressure hemorrhagic shock model, fixed-volume hemorrhagic shock model is another commonly used model by investigators. In this model, a fixed blood volume, usually calculated by the percentage of body weight, and then translated to the percentage of total circulating blood volume, is drawn. After withdrawal of certain volume of blood, the blood pressure is not maintained during the shock period. Although fixed-volume bleeding can be performed without catheterization (for example, orbital bleed or cardiac stick), the animal typically is anesthetized and catheterized for blood withdrawal, physiological monitoring, and resuscitation and administration of therapy. After hemorrhage, the animal is either monitored or resuscitated.

The shed volume varies from 20%(25,26), 33%(27), 35%(28), 40%(29,30), 50%(31), 55%(32,33,34), to 60%(35) of total circulating blood volume, or 30ml/kg(36), 45ml/kg(37) of body weight.

This model is usually used to investigate organ damages such as gut(38), cardiovascular function alterations(26,33), subsequent central nervous system and spinal injuries(39), immunological changes(32) and fluid resuscitation(26,28,30,32,33,35,40).

An advantage to this model is the ability to elucidate an animal's hemodynamic response specific to a fixed volume of blood loss. However, conversion from volume-to-body weight to volume-to-total circulating blood volume differs from species to species and even differs from individual to individual within same species. The reproducibility and standardization of this model, thus are not as reliable as fixed-pressure model.

Both fixed-pressure and fixed-volume hemorrhagic shock model provide investigators with standardized and easy-to-handle models and allow the studies of shock mechanisms and therapeutic strategies under controlled condition. Shock severity and duration can be controlled to satisfy the purpose of the research.

3.3. Uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock model

Although fixed-volume and fixed-pressure hemorrhagic shock models offer a controlled manipulation of blood loss, these models do not truly resemble the uncontrolled hemorrhage situation observed in trauma patients. Of primary interest have been the timing, volume, and nature of resuscitation fluid given to hemorrhaging trauma patients. Fluid resuscitation has been studied in different animals by a number of investigators. Uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock model allows free bleeding from either organ transaction or aorta laceration. The commonly used uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock models include: liver injury in pigs(41,42,43,44) and rats(45), 75% tail amputation in rats(46,47,48), infrarenal aorta(49,50,51), abdominal aorta(52), or aorta(53,54) laceration in pigs, common iliac artery tear in pigs(55,56) and dogs(57), and massive splenic injury in rats(58,59). In some animal models, a combination of fixed-volume blood withdrawal and uncontrolled hemorrhage generated(46,60,61).

Uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock model is widely used to evaluate different fluid resuscitation strategies. Takasu *et al* concluded that therapeutic mild hypothermia prolongs animal survivability in a lethal uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock model in rats(62). In the rat infrarenal aorta puncture model, Burris *et al*(63) found that attempts to restore normal MABP (100 mmHg) lead to increased blood loss and mortality. Moderate improvement in MABP (80 mmHg) achieve better survivability and lower bleeding. They concluded that controlled fluid use should be considered when surgical care is not readily available.

Stern *et al*(64) evaluated the effects of comparable and clinically relevant resuscitation regimens of 7.5% sodium chloride/6% dextran 70 (HSD) and 0.9% sodium chloride (NS) in a near-fatal uncontrolled hemorrhage model. The results showed that resuscitation with HSD or NS, administered in volumes that provided equivalent sodium loads at similar rates, had similar effects

Table 1. Animals utilized for studying hemorrhagic shock

	A. Small Animals: Mouse	B. Small Animals: Rats	C. Large Animals (non-	D. Primates
			primates): Sheep, Dogs, Pigs, Rabbits	
Advantages	-Minimal genetic variability (inbreds, knock-outs and transgenics) -Numerous reagents for mice available -Use minimal amounts of precious reagents -Low cost -Rapid reproduction	-Less genetic variability (inbreds) -Minimal physiological measurements -Large (relative to mouse) sample volume -Ease of instrumentation -Better reagents availability -Rapid reproduction	-Can obtain most clinical/physiological measurements -Large sample volume (blood & tissue) -Ease of instrumentation	Often human reagents can be applied in this model Can obtain most clinical/physiological measurements Most genetically similar to humans
Disadvantages	-Physiological measurements difficult -Small sample size -Genetically different from human	-No knockouts or transgenics(increasingly being available) -Fewer reagents than for mice -Genetically different from humans	-Reagents not readily available for many cell/mol/immune assays in these models -Individual variability (not inbred) -Material costs- moderate to high -More numerous differences genetically than humans	-Individual variability (not inbred) -Costly to conduct experiments -Restricted availability and usage
Shock	-Fixed volume/fixed	-Fixed volume/fixed	-Fixed volume/fixed	-Fixed volume/fixed
Models	pressure/uncontrolled	pressure/uncontrolled	pressure/uncontrolled	pressure
Applied	_	•		_

Table 2. Advantages and disadvantages of hemorrhagic shock animal models.

Shock Model	Generation of shock	Advantage	Disadvantage
Fixed-Pressure Model	Blood is drawn until MABP decreases to a certain level. The blood pressure is then maintained, with further withdrawals, for a pre-	High reproducibility and standardization.	Does not reflect real clinic situation. Self- compensation mechanisms are not allowed.
	determined period.		
Fixed-Volume Model	A fixed blood volume is drawn. The blood pressure is not maintained during the shock period.	High reproducibility and standardization. Self-compensation mechanisms are allowed.	Does not reflect real clinic situation.
Uncontrolled Hemorrhage Model	Bleeding is allowed freely from either organ transaction or aorta laceration.	Self-compensation mechanisms are allowed. It reflects real clinic situation.	Low reproducibility and standardization.

on mortality, hemodynamic parameters, hemorrhage from the injury site. Bruttig et al52 hypothesized that a slow rate of infusion after delayed resuscitation, reflecting the clinical environment, might improve survival in the presence of uncontrolled hemorrhage. They investigated resuscitation strategy with 30 min-delay and slow infusion of 4 mL/kg hypertonic saline/Dextran solution (over 12 min) Their results showed that slow infusion of hypertonic saline/Dextran solution significantly improved animal survivability, reduced blood loss, and increased cardiac output and blood pressure. The disadvantage of this model is also obvious, that is low reproducibility standardization. The advantages and disadvantages of each animal model utilized (Table 1) and type of hemorrhagic shock model (Table 2) respectively are summarized below.

4. CONSCIOUS ANIMAL HEMORRHAGIC SHOCK MODEL

Both controlled and uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock models usually operate under general anesthesia, which is either injectable or gaseous inhalation. However, it has been reported that anesthesia may affect the animal's cardiovascular and immunological functions (65,66,67).

Pagel *et al* demonstrated the cardiac depressant effects of various inhalational anesthetic agents(68,69). In hemorrhaged animals, anesthetic agents cause changes in basic physiologic control mechanisms, subsequently, resulting in alterations in blood flow, oxygen delivery, tissue oxygenation and even survivability(70,71,72,73,74). Therefore, the hemorrhagic shock model without anesthesia is worthy of consideration, for it most closely mimics the clinical scenario.

In a model of delayed hemorrhagic shock in conscious rats, Shirhan et al(75) found that selective inducible nitric oxide synthase inhibitors significantly reduced brain infarct volume and improved neurological performance and animal survival rate. Wettstein et al(76) resuscitated hemorrhaged conscious rats with shed blood, hydroxyethyl starch and modified human hemoglobin. They found that modified human hemoglobin greatly improved microvascular blood flow and oxygen transport. In conscious sheep hemorrhagic shock model Landau et al reported that combination of military antishock trousers and hypertonic saline increased MABP and improved cardiac output and tissue perfusion.

5. COMBINED HEMORRHAGIC SHOCK WITH MULTIPLE INJURIES

In real scenario, hemorrhagic shock usually combines with traumatic injuries. The release of cytokines and other mediators from injured tissue contributes

significantly to organ function disorders associated with shock. Various combined trauma and hemorrhagic shock models have been developed by different investigators.

5.1. Combined soft tissue injury and hemorrhagic shock

Rupani *et al*(77) investigated the effects of combined laparotomy and hemorrhagic shock on the morphological and functional changes in intestine of rats. They found that soft tissue injury and hemorrhagic shock leads to changes in the intestinal mucus layer as well as increased villous injury, apoptosis and gut permeability. Additionally, increased gut permeability was associated with loss of the intestinal mucus layer suggesting that T/HS-induced injury to the mucus layer may contribute to the loss of gut barrier function.

The premature, mature and aged mice, both male and female, were challenged with trauma and hemorrhagic shock. Sex- and age-specific effects in bone marrow differentiation and immune responses occur after trauma-hemorrhage, which are likely to contribute to the sex- and age-related differences in the systemic immune responses under such conditions.

Szalay et al(78) hypothesized that the induction of heat shock proteins (HSPs) contributes to the salutary effects of estradiol on cardiac and hepatic functions after trauma-hemorrhage. In rat laparotomy and hemorrhagic shock model, 17 beta-estradiol increased heart/liver HSPs expression, ameliorated the impairment of heart/liver functions and significantly prevented the increase in plasma levels of ALT, TNF-alpha and IL-6. The ability of estradiol to induce HSPs expression in the heart and the liver suggests that HSPs, in part, mediate the salutary effects of 17beta-estradiol on organ functions.

5.2. Combined traumatic brain injury (TBI) and hemorrhagic shock

Atan et al(79) investigated the effects of nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) inhibitors in the rat model of combined traumatic brain injury and hemorrhagic shock. Aminoguanidine (AG), a selective iNOS inhibitor, showed a significant increase in mean survival time and cerebral tissue perfusion and decreased the number of apoptotic neurons. The authors asserted that treatment with AG, which causes the inhibition of iNOS, might contribute to improved physiological parameters and neuronal cell survival following TBI and hemorrhagic shock.

Sanui et al(80) resuscitated TBI and hemorrhagic shocked pigs with crystalloid solution and arginine vasopressin. The results showed that early supplemental arginine vasopressin rapidly corrected cerebral perfusion pressure, improved cerebrovascular compliance and prevented circulatory collapse during fluid resuscitation after traumatic brain injury.

Gibson et al(81) evaluated different resuscitation regiments (saline, shed blood, and blood substitute) for combined TBI and hemorrhagic shock in pigs. They reported that resuscitation with shed blood effectively increased arterial O2 saturation (SaO2), mixed venous O2 saturation (SvO2), cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) and cerebral venous O2 saturation (ScvO2), decreased intracranial pressure (ICP) and improved animal survival rate. Thus, whole blood was found to be more effective than saline for resuscitation of TBI/hemorrhagic shock, whereas blood substitutes were less effective than saline resuscitation.

5.3. Combined sepsis and hemorrhagic shock (two-hit model)

In laparotomy-hemorrhagic shock-sepsis (induced by cecal ligation and puncture) rats, Suzuki et al(82) found that androstenediol markedly decreased plasma IL-6 and TNF-alpha levels, prevented the increased production of IL-6 and TNF-alpha by Kupffer cells and alveolar macrophages and attenuated the decrease in IL-6 and TNF-alpha production by splenic macrophages. The depressed IL-2 and IFN-gamma production by splenocytes was attenuated by the administration of androstenediol. Furthermore, survival rate was improved by androstenediol treatment.

Schulman *et al*(83) investigated immune response and lung injury caused by hemorrhagic shock and sepsis. Hemorrhagic shock blunted serum TNF-alpha expression to lipopolysaccharide (LPS), but primed for increased bronchoalveolar lavage TNF-alpha. Elevated serum TNF-alpha corresponded with greater bronchoalveolar lavage neutrophil infiltration.

Coimbra et al(84) hypothesized that improvements in cellular immune function after hypertonic saline (HTS) resuscitation alter the outcome of sepsis after hemorrhage. Their results suggest that HTS resuscitation leads to increased survival after hemorrhage and CLP. Marked improvements were observed in lung and liver injury compared with isotonic resuscitation. The better containment of the infection observed with HTS resuscitation corresponds to a marked decreased in bacteremia. HTS resuscitation stands as an alternative resuscitation regimen with immunomodulatory potential.

6. CONCLUSION

There are wide variety of hemorrhagic shock models (controlled/uncontrolled and combined hemorrhagic shock with poly trauma) which can provide investigators with more options to investigate the pathophysiological mechanisms and therapeutic strategies. However, there must be a desire to establish a balance between clinical relevance and the need to maximize experimental standardization and reproducibility. Therefore, it is necessary for every

investigator to choose carefully which model to use to address a particular question. This chapter may serve as an initial guide in selecting a model or models of hemorrhage. In addition, we also hope to encourage the development of new models of hemorrhagic shock to better elucidate pathophysiological mechanisms and immunological alterations that shock produces, and to relieve the human, medical and economic burden of traumatic injury.

7. REFERENCES

- 1. Bellamy, RF: The causes of death in conventional land warfare: Implications for combat casualty care research. *Mil Med* 149, 55-62 (1984)
- 2. Wiggers CJ: Experimental hemorrhagic shock. In: The Physiology of Shock. Eds: Wiggers CJ, *The Commonwealth Fund*, New York (1950)
- 3. Garcia-Martinez D, Portilla-de-Buen E, Leal C, Santillán P, Muniz J: The immediate response to severe shock in a canine model with a combination of hypertonic-hyperoncotic solution with naloxone. *Shock* 26, 379-85 (2006)
- 4. Yang R, Harata T, Mollen KP, Prince JM, Levy RM, Englert JA, Gallowitsch-Puerta M, Yang L, Yang H, Tracey KJ, Harbrecht BG, Billiar TR, Fink MP: Anti-HMGB1 neutralizing antibody ameliorates gut barrier dysfunction and improves survival after hemorrhagic shock. *Mol Med*12, 105-14 (2006)
- 5. Shah KJ, Chiu WC, Scalea TM, Carlson DE: Detrimental effects of rapid fluid resuscitation on hepatocellular function and survival after hemorrhagic shock. *Shock* 18, 242–247 (2002)
- 6. Chiara O, Pelosi P, Brazzi L, Bottino N, Taccone P, Cimbanassi S, Segala M, Gattinoni L, Scalea T: Resuscitation from hemorrhagic shock: experimental model comparing normal saline, Dextran and hypertonic saline solutions. *Crit Care Med*31, 1915–1922 (2003)
- 7. FJitzpatrick CM, Biggs KL, Atkins BZ, Quance-Fitch FJ, Dixon PS, Savage SA, Jenkins DH, Kerby JD: Prolonged low-volume resuscitation with HBOC-201 in a large-animal survival model of controlled hemorrhage. *J Trauma*59, 273-83 (2005)
- 8. Hermann J, Corso C, Messmer KF: Resuscitation with recombinant hemoglobin rHb2.0 in a rodent model of hemorrhagic shock. *Anesthesiology*107, 273-80 (2007)
- 9. Cheung AT, Duong PL, Driessen B, Chen PC, Jahr JS, Gunther RA: Systemic function, oxygenation and microvascular correlation during treatment of hemorrhagic shock with blood substitutes. *Clin Hemorheol Microcirc*34, 325-34 (2006)

- 10. Rushing GD, Britt RC, Britt LD: Effects of hemorrhagic shock on adrenal response in a rat model. *Ann Surg* 243, 652-6 (2006)
- 11. Rupani B, Caputo FJ, Watkins AC, Vega D, Magnotti LJ, Lu Q, Xu da Z, Deitch EA: Relationship between disruption of the unstirred mucus layer and intestinal restitution in loss of gut barrier function after trauma hemorrhagic shock. *Surgery*141, 481-9 (2007)
- 12. Fujiyoshi N, Feketeova E, Lu Q, Xu DZ, Hasko G, Deitch EA Amiloride moderates increased gut permeability and diminishes mesenteric lymphmediated priming of neutrophils in trauma/hemorrhagic shock. *Surgery* 140, 810-7 (2006)
- 13. Raman KG, Sappington PL, Yang R, Levy RM, Prince JM, Liu S, Watkins SK, Schmidt AM, Billiar TR, Fink MP: The role of RAGE in the pathogenesis of intestinal barrier dysfunction after hemorrhagic shock. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*291, G556-65 (2006).
- 14. Raddatz A, Kubulus D, Winning J, Bauer I, Pradarutti S, Wolf B, Kreuer S, Rensing H: Dobutamine improves liver function after hemorrhagic shock through induction of heme oxygenase-1. Am J Respir Crit Care Med174, 198-207 (2006)
- 15. Kuebler JF, Jarrar D, Wang P, Bland KI, Chaudry IH: Dehydroepiandrosterone restores hepatocellular function and prevents liver damage in estrogendeficient females following trauma and hemorrhage. *J Surg Res* 97, 196-201(2001)
- 16. Toda Y, Takahashi T, Maeshima K, Shimizu H, Inoue K, Morimatsu H, Omori E, Takeuchi M, Akagi R, Morita K: A neutrophil elastase inhibitor, sivelestat, ameliorates lung injury after hemorrhagic shock in rats. *Int J Mol Med*19, 237-43 (2007)
- 17. Alkan A, Eroglu F, Eroglu E, Ergin C, Cerçi C, Alsancak G: Protective effects of N-acetylcysteine and erdosteine on hemorrhagic shock-induced acute lung injury. Eur J Emerg Med 13, 281-5 (2006)
- 18. Cooper ES, Muir WW: Continuous cardiac output monitoring via arterial pressure waveform analysis following severe hemorrhagic shock in dogs. *Crit Care Med* 35, 1724-9 (2007)
- 19. Westphal G, Garrido Adel P, de Almeida DP, Rocha e Silva M, Poli-de-Figueiredo LF: Pulse pressure respiratory variation as an early marker of cardiac output fall in experimental hemorrhagic shock. *Artif Organs* 31, 284-9 (2007)
- 20. Yang R, Tibbs BM, Chang B, Nguyen C, Woodall C, Steppacher R, Helling T, Morrison DC, Van Way CW 3rd: Effect of DHEA on the hemodynamic

- response to resuscitation in a porcine model of hemorrhagic shock. *J Trauma*61, 1343-9 (2006)
- 21. Gaddipati JP, Sundar SV, Calemine J, Seth P, Sidhu GS, Maheshwari RK: Differential regulation of cytokines and transcription factors in liver by curcumin following hemorrhage/resuscitation. *Shock* 19, 150-6 (2003)
- 22. Wichmann MW, Zellweger R, DeMaso, Ayala A, Chaudry IH. Melatonin administration attenuates depressed immune functions trauma-hemorrhage. *J Surg Res*63, 256-62 (1996)
- 23. Kerby JD, Sainz JG, Zhang F, Hutchings A, Sprague S, Farrokhi FR, Son M: Resuscitation from hemorrhagic shock with HBOC-201 in the setting of traumatic brain injury. *Shock*27, 652-6 (2007)
- 24. Pinto FC, Capone-Neto A, Prist R, E Silva MR, Poli-de-Figueiredo LF: Volume replacement with lactated Ringer's or 3% hypertonic saline solution during combined experimental hemorrhagic shock and traumatic brain injury. *J Trauma*60, 758-64 (2006)
- 25. Stepaniak PC, Hamilton GC, Olson JE, Gilmore SM, Stizza DM, Beck B: Physiologic effects of simulated + Gx orbital reentry in primate models of hemorrhagic shock. *Aviat Space Environ Med*78, A14-25 (2007)
- 26. Lee J, Cerussi AE, Saltzman D, Waddington T, Tromberg BJ, Brenner M: Hemoglobin measurement patterns during noninvasive diffuse optical spectroscopy monitoring of hypovolemic shock and fluid replacement. *J Biomed Opt*12, 024001 (2007)
- 27. Kauvar DS, Baer DG, Dubick MA, Walters TJ: Effect of fluid resuscitation on acute skeletal muscle ischemia-reperfusion injury after hemorrhagic shock in rats. *J Am Coll Surg* 202, 888-96 (2006)
- 28. Josephsen GD, Josephsen KA, Beilman GJ, Taylor JH, Muiler KE: Microwave processing for sample preparation to evaluate mitochondrial ultrastructural damage in hemorrhagic shock. *Microsc Microanal*11, 500 (2005)
- 29. Awasthi V, Yee SH, Jerabek P, Goins B, Phillips WT: Cerebral oxygen delivery by liposome-encapsulated hemoglobin: a positron-emission tomographic evaluation in a rat model of hemorrhagic shock. *J Appl Physiol* 103, 28-38 (2007)
- 30. Kaplan LJ, Philbin N, Arnaud F, Rice J, Dong F, Freilich D: Resuscitation from hemorrhagic shock: fluid selection and infusion strategy drives unmeasured ion genesis. *J Trauma*61, 90-8 (2006)
- 31. Cabrales P, Tsai AG, Intaglietta M: Is resuscitation from hemorrhagic shock limited by

- blood oxygen-carrying capacity or blood viscosity? Shock27, 380-9 (2007)
- 32. Hall C, Malkevich N, Handrigan M, Vandermolen C, Aranaud F, Hong J, Dong F, Rice J, Philbin N, Ahlers S, McCarron R, Freilich D, McGwin G, Flournoy WS, Pearce LB: Innate immune responses in Swine resuscitated from severe traumatic hemorrhagic shock with hemoglobin-based oxygen carrier-201. Artif Cells Blood Substit Immobil Biotechnol35, 259-74 (2007)
- 33. Cheung AT, To PL, Chan DM, Ramanujam S, Barbosa MA, Chen PC, Driessen B, Jahr JS, Gunther RA: Comparison of treatment modalities for hemorrhagic shock. *Artif Cells Blood Substit Immobil Biotechnol* 35, 173-90 (2007)
- 34. Yannopoulos D, McKnite S, Metzger A, Lurie KG: Intrathoracic pressure regulation improves 24-hour survival in a porcine model of hypovolemic shock. *Anesth Analg* 104, 157-62 (2007)
- 35. Reynolds PS, Barbee RW, Skaflen MD, Ward KR: Low-volume resuscitation cocktail extends survival after severe hemorrhagic shock. *Shock*28, 45-52 (2007)
- 36. Batchinsky AI, Cooke WH, Kuusela T, Cancio LC: Loss of complexity characterizes the heart rate response to experimental hemorrhagic shock in swine. *Crit Care Med*35, 519-25 (2007)
- 37. Krismer AC, Wenzel V, Lindner KH, von Goedecke A, Junger M, Stadlbauer KH, Königsrainer A, Strohmenger HU, Sawires M, Jahn B, Hörmann C: Influence of negative expiratory pressure ventilation on hemodynamic variables during severe hemorrhagic shock. *Crit Care Med* 34, 2175-81 (2006)
- 38. Macias CA, Chiao JW, Xiao J, Arora DS, Tyurina YY, Delude RL, Wipf P, Kagan VE, Fink MP: Treatment with a novel hemigramicidin-TEMPO conjugate prolongs survival in a rat model of lethal hemorrhagic shock. *Ann Surg* 245, 305-14 (2007)
- 39. Kudo Y, Ohtaki H, Dohi K, Yin L, Nakamachi T, Endo S, Yofu S, Hiraizumi Y, Miyaoka H, Shioda S: Neuronal damage in rat brain and spinal cord after cardiac arrest and massive hemorrhagic shock. *Crit Care Med* 34, 2820-6 (2006)
- 40. Lin T, Chen H, Koustova E, Sailhamer EA, Li Y, Shults C, Liu B, Rhee P, Kirkpatrick J, Alam HB: Histone deacetylase as therapeutic target in a rodent model of hemorrhagic shock: effect of different resuscitation strategies on lung and liver. *Surgery*141, 784-94 (2007)
- 41. Todd SR, Malinoski D, Muller PJ, Schreiber MA: Lactated Ringer's is superior to normal saline in the resuscitation of uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock. *J Trauma*62, 636-9 (2007)

- 42. Voelckel WG, Raedler C, Wenzel V, Lindner KH, Krismer AC, Schmittinger CA, Herff H, Rheinberger K, Konigsrainer A: Arginine vasopressin, but not epinephrine, improves survival in uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock after liver trauma in pigs. *Crit Care Med* 31, 1160-5 (2003)
- 43. Varela JE, Cohn SM, Diaz I, Giannotti GD, Proctor KG: Splanchnic perfusion during delayed, hypotensive, or aggressive fluid resuscitation from uncontrolled hemorrhage. *Shock*20, 476-80 (2003)
- 44. Watters JM, Tieu BH, Differding JA, Muller PJ, Schreiber MA: A single bolus of 3% hypertonic saline with 6% dextran provides optimal initial resuscitation after uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock. *J Trauma*61, 75-81 (2006)
- 45. Paran H, Gutman M, Mayo A: The effect of aprotinin in a model of uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock. *Am J Surg* 190, 463-6 (2005)
- 46. Poloujadoff MP, Borron SW, Amathieu R, Favret F, Camara MS, Lapostolle F, Vicaut E, Adnet F: Improved Survival after Resuscitation with Norepinephrine in a Murine Model of Uncontrolled Hemorrhagic Shock. *Anesthesiology* 107, 591-596 (2007)
- 47. Sinert R, Tillotson RD, Adar E, Isaac Y, Nagdev A, Peng J, Carrer A, Shahidi H, Zehtabchi S: The effect of ethanol on uncontrolled hemorrhage in a rodent model. *Acad Emerg Med*12, 1141-7 (2005) 48. Takasu A, Norio H, Sakamoto T, Okada Y: Mild hypothermia prolongs the survival time during uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock in rats. *Resuscitation*54, 303-9 (2002)
- 49. Drobin D, Sjostrand F, Piros D, Hedin A, Heinius G, Hahn RG: Tranexamic acid does not prevent rebleeding in an uncontrolled hemorrhage porcine model. *J Trauma*59, 976-83 (2005)
- 50. Sondeen JL, Pusateri AE, Hedner U, Yantis LD, Holcomb JB: Recombinant factor VIIa increases the pressure at which rebleeding occurs in porcine uncontrolled aortic hemorrhage model. *Shock*22, 163-8 (2004)
- 51. Riddez L, Drobin D, Sjostrand F, Svensen C, Hahn RG: Lower dose of hypertonic saline dextran reduces the risk of lethal rebleeding in uncontrolled hemorrhage. *Shock*17, 377-82 (2002)
- 52. Bruttig SP, O'Benar JD, Wade CE, Dubick MA: Benefit of slow infusion of hypertonic saline/dextran in swine with uncontrolled aortotomy hemorrhage. *Shock*24, 92-6 (2005)
- 53. Young MA, Riddez L, Kjellstrom BT, Bursell J, Winslow F, Lohman J, Winslow RM: MalPEGhemoglobin (MP4) improves hemodynamics, acid-

- base status, and survival after uncontrolled hemorrhage in anesthetized swine. *Crit Care Med*33, 1794-804 (2005)
- 54. Stern SA, Kowalenko T, Younger J, Wang X, Dronen SC: Comparison of the effects of bolus vs. slow infusion of 7.5% NaCl/6% dextran-70 in a model of near-lethal uncontrolled hemorrhage. *Shock*14, 616-22 (2000)
- 55. Stapley SA, Clasper JC, Horrocks CL, Kenward CE, Watkins PE: The effects of repeated dosing with 7.5% sodium chloride/6% dextran following uncontrolled intra-abdominal hemorrhage. *Shock*17, 146-50 (2002)
- 56. Alam HB, Punzalan CM, Koustova E, Bowyer MW, Rhee P: Hypertonic saline: intraosseous infusion causes myonecrosis in a dehydrated swine model of uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock. *J Trauma*52, 18-25 (2002)
- 57. Bruscagin V, de Figueiredo LF, Rasslan S, Varicoda EY, Rocha e Silva M: Fluid resuscitation improves hemodynamics without increased bleeding in a model of uncontrolled hemorrhage induced by an iliac artery tear in dogs. *J Trauma*52, 1147-52 (2002)
- 58. Solomonov E, Hirsh M, Yahiya A, Krausz MM: The effect of vigorous fluid resuscitation in uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock after massive splenic injury. *Crit Care Med*28, 749-54 (2000)
- 59. Krausz MM, Bashenko Y, Hirsh M: Crystalloid or colloid resuscitation of uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock after moderate splenic injury. *Shock*13, 230-5 (2000)
- 60. Kentner R, Safar P, Behringer W, Wu X, Henchir J, Ma L, Hsia CJ, Tisherman SA: Small volume resuscitation with tempol is detrimental during uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock in rats. *Resuscitation*72, 295-305 (2007)
- 61. Norio H, Takasu A, Kawakami M, Saitoh D, Sakamoto T, Okada Y: Rapid body cooling by cold fluid infusion prolongs survival time during uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock in pigs. *J Trauma*52, 1056-61 (2002)
- 62. Takasu A, Sakamoto T, Okada Y: Effect of induction rate for mild hypothermia on survival time during uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock in rats. *J Trauma*61, 1330-5 (2006)
- 63. Burris D, Rhee P, Kaufmann C, Pikoulis E, Austin B, Eror A, DeBraux S, Guzzi L, Leppäniemi A: Controlled resuscitation for uncontrolled hemorrhagic shock. *J Trauma* 46, 216-23 (1999)
- 64. Stern SA, Jwayyed S, Dronen SC, Wang X: Resuscitation of severe uncontrolled hemorrhage:

- 7.5% sodium chloride/6% dextran 70 vs 0.9% sodium chloride. *Acad Emerg Med*7, 847-56 (2000)
- 65. Hauser GJ, Dayao EK, Zukowska-Grojec Z: Effect of pentobarbital anesthesia on the pressor response to agonists *in vivo* in normal and endotoxemic rats. *Res Com Chem Pathol Pharmacol*90, 289–300 (1995)
- 66. Sawyer DC, Lumb WW, Stone HL: Cardiovascular effects of halothane, methoxyflurane, pentobarbital and thiamylal. *J Appl Physiol* 30, 36–43 (1971)
- 67. Puig NR, Ferrrero P, Bay ML, Hidalgo G, Valenti J, Amerio N, Elena G: Effects of sevoflurane general anesthesia: immunological studies in mice. *Int Immunopharmacol* 2, 95–104 (2002)
- 68. Pagel PS, Kampine JP, Schmeling WT, Warltier DC: Comparison of the systemic and coronary hemodynamic actions of desflurane, isoflurane, halothane, and enflurane in the chronically instrumented dog. *Anesthesiology*74, 539-51 (1991)
- 69. Pagel PS, Kampine JP, Schmeling WT, Warltier DC: Influence of volatile anesthetics on myocardial contractility *in vivo*: desflurane versus isoflurane. *Anesthesiology*74, 900-7 (1991)
- 70. Longnecker DE, Sturgill BC: Influence of anesthetic agent on survival following hemorrhage. *Anesthesiology*45, 516-21 (1976)
- 71. Longnecker DE, Ross DC, Silver IA: Anesthetic influence on arteriolar diameters and tissue oxygen tension in hemorrhaged rats. *Anesthesiology* 57, 177-82 (1982)
- 72. Seyde WC, Longnecker DE: Anesthetic influences on regional hemodynamics in normal and hemorrhaged rats. *Anesthesiology*61, 686-98 (1984)
- 73. Seyde WC, McGowan L, Lund N, Duling B, Longnecker DE: Effects of anesthetics on regional hemodynamics in normovolemic and hemorrhaged rats. *Am J Physiol*249, H164-73 (1985)
- 74. Weiskopf RB, Townsley MI, Riordan KK, Chadwick K, Baysinger M, Mahoney E: Comparison of cardiopulmonary responses to graded hemorrhage during enflurane, halothane, isoflurane, and ketamine anesthesia. *Anesth Analg*60, 481-91 (1981)
- 75. Shirhan M, Moochhala SM, Siew Yang KL, Sng J, Ng KC, Mok P, Lu J: Preservation of neurological functions by nitric oxide synthase inhibitors in conscious rats following delayed hemorrhagic shock. *Life Sci76*, 661-70 (2004)
- 76. Wettstein R, Tsai AG, Erni D, Winslow RM, Intaglietta M: Resuscitation with polyethylene

- glycol-modified human hemoglobin improves microcirculatory blood flow and tissue oxygenation after hemorrhagic shock in awake hamsters. *Crit Care Med* 31, 1824-30 (2003)
- 77. Rupani B, Caputo FJ, Watkins AC, Vega D, Magnotti LJ, Lu Q, Xu da Z, Deitch EA: Relationship between disruption of the unstirred mucus layer and intestinal restitution in loss of gut barrier function after trauma hemorrhagic shock. *Surgery*141, 481-9 (2007)
- 78. Szalay L, Shimizu T, Suzuki T, Yu HP, Choudhry MA, Schwacha MG, Rue LW 3rd, Bland KI, Chaudry IH: Estradiol improves cardiac and hepatic function after trauma-hemorrhage: role of enhanced heat shock protein expression. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 290, R812-8 (2006)
- 79. Atan MS, Moochhala SM, Ng KC, Low K, Teo AL, Lu J: Effects of aminoguanidine and L-arginine methyl ester resuscitation following induction of fluid-percussion injury and severe controlled hemorrhagic shock in the rat brain. *J Neurosurg*101, 138-44 (2004)
- 80. Sanui M, King DR, Feinstein AJ, Varon AJ, Cohn SM, Proctor KG: Effects of arginine vasopressin during resuscitation from hemorrhagic hypotension after traumatic brain injury. *Crit Care Med*34, 433-8 (2006)
- 81. Gibson JB, Maxwell RA, Schweitzer JB, Fabian TC, Proctor KG: Resuscitation from severe hemorrhagic shock after traumatic brain injury using saline, shed blood, or a blood substitute. *Shock*17, 234-44 (2002)
- 82. Suzuki T, Shimizu T, Szalay L, Choudhry MA, Rue LW 3rd, Bland KI, Chaudry IH: Androstenediol ameliorates alterations in immune cells cytokine production capacity in a two-hit model of traumahemorrhage and sepsis. *Cytokine*34, 76-84 (2006)
- 83. Schulman AM, Claridge JA, Ghezel-Ayagh A, Johnson O 3rd, Young JS: Differential local and systemic tumor necrosis factor-alpha responses to a second hit of lipopolysaccharide after hemorrhagic shock. *J Trauma*55, 298-307 (2003)
- 84. Coimbra R, Hoyt DB, Junger WG, Angle N, Wolf P, Loomis W, Evers MF: Hypertonic saline resuscitation decreases susceptibility to sepsis after hemorrhagic shock. *J Trauma*42, 602-7 (1997)
- **Key Words:** Hemorrhagic Shock, Animal Models, Review
- **Send correspondence to:** Shabbir Moochhala, Programme Director, Combat Casualty Care Programme, Defence

Hemorrhagic shock: an overview of animal models

Medical and Environmental Research Institute, DSO National Laboratories (Kent Ridge), 27 Medical Drive, Singapore 117510, Tel: 65-6485-7201, Fax: 65-6485-7226, E-mail: mshabbir@dso.org.sg

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol14.htm